IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC05-1617
Lower Court Case No. 1997-754-A CF

PAUL H. EVANS,
Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUZANNE MYERS KEFFER
Assistant CCRC-Lead Counsel
Florida Bar No. 0150177

CHRISTINA SPUDEAS
Assistant CCRC-Second Chair
Florida Bar No. 0342491

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL
101 N.E. 3rd Ave., Suite 400
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
(954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Indian River County, Florida, entered the judgments of conviction and sentences of death at issue in this case.

Mr. Evans' first trial resulted in a hung jury (R. 1798). The second trial ended in a mistrial during voir dire (R. 2117). In his third trial, Mr. Evans was found guilty, as charged, of one count of first degree murder in the death of Alan Pfeiffer (R. 4283).

The Vero Beach Police arrived at the victim's trailer in the early morning of March 23, 1991 after receiving a complaint of loud music. The police discovered the body on the living room floor. There were no signs of forced entry or a struggle, but the trailer was in disarray. On the kitchen table, the police found a torn wedding photo and the victim's life insurance policies, worth approximately \$120,000, each policy listing Connie as the beneficiary. They also discovered a marijuana roach in the living room, and a crack pipe and roach clip in the bedroom. There was lipstick on the roach in the living room, but police did not send it for DNA testing. A television, VCR and camcorder were missing from the trailer. Black high heel

shoes were found near the body. Greg Hill testified at trial that Connie Pfeiffer was wearing black spandex and high heels on the night of the murder.

Police did not speak to Connie until the next afternoon. Detective Elliot testified that Connie was uncooperative throughout the entire investigation. Connie told Elliot she attended the fair with Evans, Waddell and Thomas on the night of the murder. Waddell, Thomas and Evans each gave this same alibi.

After her husband's death, Connie moved from Vero Beach and bought a horse farm near Ocala worth \$120,000, the same amount of the life insurance proceeds. Waddell testified that she did not receive anything of value for the murder of Alan, but Waddell did acquire a taxi company some time after the murder.

Eventually, the case grew cold and was closed by police. However, the Vero Beach Police reopened the case in 1997, with Detective Daniel Cook focusing his investigation on Evans, Connie, Thomas and Waddell. Thomas gave a statement to police about the murder and agreed to wear a wire and meet with Waddell. Police arrested Waddell, who agreed to cooperate and provide a statement after police showed her the statement given by Thomas. Based on the cooperation of Waddell and Thomas, police

arrested Connie and Mr. Evans for their involvement in the murder.

The State's theory at trial was that this was a murder-for-hire involving Mr. Evans and three co-conspirators: Sarah Thomas; Donna Waddell; and the victim's wife, Connie Pfeiffer. The State asserted that the victim's death occurred between 8:00 and 8:30 p.m. At trial, testimony of Mr. Evans' alleged involvement in the murder was provided entirely by Thomas, who was never charged with any crime, and Waddell, who pled guilty to second-degree murder in exchange for a sworn statement as to her involvement and her agreement to testify. The victim's wife, Connie, did not testify at Mr. Evans' trial because she invoked her Fifth Amendment rights. Connie was convicted of first-degree murder and received a life sentence.

Leo Cordary, a neighbor of the victim, was the only witness to corroborate the State's timing of events. Cordary testified that on March 23, 1991, the day of the incident, he heard banging at the victim's trailer during the afternoon, but he could not see anything (R. 3389). Cordary heard further banging later that evening, followed by gunshots (R. 3390). He testified that he heard the gunshots "around 8:00 o'clock" (Id.). However, Mr. Cordary

was admittedly drunk on that evening and had made two prior sworn statements, one statement indicating the shooting occurred between 10:30 and 11:00 p.m. and the other indicating the shots occurred around 6:30 p.m.

At trial, Waddell testified that she, Connie, Thomas, and Mr. Evans all agreed on a plan to kill Pfeiffer, and that the four of them arranged the victim's trailer home to look like a robbery scene. Then, according to Waddell, she and Mr. Evans went to her parents' home to steal a gun from her father, after which Waddell, Evans and Thomas went to test-fire the gun. After firing the gun, Waddell said that she, Evans and Thomas returned to the trailer to discuss the alibi with Connie, and that Mr. Evans said he was going to hide behind furniture and shoot the victim when he came into the trailer.

Waddell testified that she, Thomas and Mr. Evans went to the fair that evening, but left the fair and got to the victim's trailer at dusk. Waddell and Thomas left Mr. Evans at the trailer. Waddell did not remember whether they returned to the fair after dropping Mr. Evans off at the trailer, yet Thomas testified that they did return to the fair at that time.

Thomas testified that she and Waddell used quarters at the fair to avoid having their hands stamped so it would

not appear that they left the fair and returned later. Thomas also said that she and Waddell stayed at the fair for one to two hours before going back to the trailer.

During that same night, Alan's girlfriend, Linda Tustin, met with Alan at his workplace. Tustin saw that Alan was agitated during a phone call with his wife, Connie, and when Alan got off the phone, he told Tustin that "his wife and her biker friends are going to clean him out." Alan left work for home around 7:30 p.m. -- a thirty minute drive.

The testimony of Waddell and Thomas is inconsistent in many regards. Thomas testified that Mr. Evans never went to the fair in the early evening hours. Instead, she testified that Thomas and Waddell dropped Mr. Evans off at the victim's trailer before going to the fair. Waddell testified that Mr. Evans went to the fair with both women before dropping him off at the trailer.

Thomas testified that when she and Waddell first went to the pickup spot to get Evans, he was not there, so they drove around and parked at a gravel lot. Thomas said that they did not see Mr. Evans, so they returned to the fair and waited thirty to forty-five minutes before returning to the pickup spot to meet Evans around 10 or 11:00 p.m. Waddell testified that the two women drove around for a

long time and finally parked near the trailer park. When Waddell thought she heard a shot, the two women returned to the pick-up spot where they found Mr. Evans. Waddell believed this to be between 8:30 and 9:00 p.m.

Thomas said that she and Evans disposed of the gun a few days later in a canal near Yeehaw Junction. However, Waddell testified that she, Thomas and Evans disposed of the gun in a canal the night of the murder after firing off the rest of the bullets.

The testimony of Waddell and Thomas was also inconsistent as to Mr. Evans' alleged act of burning his pants in a bathtub after the murder. Waddell testified that this happened the next day and that she, Evans and Thomas were present. However, Thomas said that she and Evans tried to burn Evans' pants after they got home from Denny's.

Thomas also stated that shortly after the murder, Evans threw pieces of a camcorder taken from the victim's trailer in a dumpster. Waddell testified that all three of them smashed a television taken from the trailer and that Thomas and Evans disposed of the pieces.

Thomas and Waddell both testified that upon returning to the fair, Connie took her kids home and returned to the fair to pick up Waddell, Thomas and Mr. Evans and they went

to Denny's. After Denny's, Thomas and Mr. Evans returned to their apartment while Connie and Waddell drove around.

After very heated deliberations, the jury convicted Mr. Evans of first-degree murder. At the penalty phase, the defense presented limited evidence of Evans' troubled childhood, including an incident in which Evans accidentally shot his younger brother, Matthew, while the boys were playing. Trial counsel also presented evidence through two psychologists that Mr. Evans would adapt well in prison. After the penalty-phase proceedings, the jury voted nine to three in favor of death (R. 4460). The court followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Evans to death. (R. 4524), finding two aggravating factors: (1) The crime was committed for pecuniary gain, and (2) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of legal or moral justification ("CCP"). The only statutory mitigator found was Mr. Evans' age of nineteen when the murder was committed. The court additionally found eleven nonstatutory mitigators giving them from very little weight to moderate weight. (R. 4524).

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the convictions. *Evans v. State*, 808 So. 2d 92 (2001). Mr. Evans timely petitioned the United States Supreme Court

for certiorari. This petition was denied on October 15, 2002.

On October 9, 2002, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim P. Rule 3.852, counsel for Mr. Evans timely filed numerous Demands for Public Records from various state agencies involved in this case. On January 6, 2003 the circuit court held a hearing regarding agency objections to Mr. Evans' Rule 3.852 Demands. On August 19, 2003, the circuit court heard argument pertaining to statutory exemptions claimed by various state agencies and reviewed the exempt records for exculpatory information. At the August 19, 2003 hearing, Mr. Evans was provided with additional public records by the court after the court determined his entitlement to the redacted records.

On October 2, 2003, Mr. Evans timely filed his Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851, wherein he alleged six claims for relief, including several grounds under each claim. The Court granted an evidentiary hearing for claims I, II (excluding failure to object to serious misstatements of the law) and III. An evidentiary hearing was denied for claims IV, V and VI.

The lower court held an evidentiary hearing on November 8, 9 and 22, 2004. Mr. Evans called numerous

witnesses including Mr. Evans' trial attorneys, alibi witnesses, mental health experts and family members in support of his postconviction claims including ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt/innocence and penalty phases of his trial.

On June 9, 2005, the circuit court issued an order in Mr. Evans' case denying his Rule 3.851 Motion. (PCR. 1105-28). Mr. Evans' motion for rehearing was denied on July 16, 2005 (PCR. 1143-44).

On May 18, 2005, just prior to the court's denial of relief, Mr. Evans filed a Demand for Additional Public Records to the Office of the State Attorney requesting all letter(s), emails, notes and/or other forms of correspondence from Lawrence Mirman, Assistant State Attorney, to defense witnesses, Mark Harllee, Assistant Public Defender and Diamond Litty, Public Defender, written and delivered between the date of the filing of the Defendant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief and the date of Mr. Evans' evidentiary hearing. The State objected claiming a work product exemption. On August 12, 2005, the circuit court held a hearing, ultimately sustaining the State's objection and requiring that the document remain under seal.

Thereafter, Mr. Evans timely filed his notice of appeal. (PCR. 1145-46).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

I. Mr. Evans did not receive a full and fair evidentiary hearing due to the State's request to seal favorable impeachment evidence and the lower court's denial of access to public records. During the evidentiary hearing, the State provided trial counsel with a written document that was purported to contain responses to questions or areas of questioning by Mr. Evans counsel. As a result, Mr. Evans did not a true adversarial testing of his claims. Moreover, it taints the findings of the trial court.

II. Mr. Evans received ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase of his capital trial. The case against Mr. Evans was circumstantial. There was no weapon, no eyewitness and the State's key witnesses were convicted felons and co-defendants who escaped prosecution or received a deal for their assistance. Impeachment evidence would have cast reasonable doubt on the already contradictory testimony of Donna Waddell and Sarah Thomas. Had trial counsel thoroughly investigated, prepared, presented alibi and impeachment witnesses and adequately

challenged the State's case, there is more than a reasonable probability of a different outcome.

III. Counsel's ineffectiveness was compounded by the State's willful withholding of relevant impeachment and exculpatory evidence. Here, material impeachment evidence was withheld from counsel which directly attacked the theory of the State's case. Impeaching the unindicted co-defendant, the co-defendant and the only witness placing the timing of the shooting at the same time as testified to by the co-defendants was key to the defense theory that Mr. Evans did not commit this crime because he did not have the opportunity. Because the state unreasonably failed to disclose its existence, or defense counsel unreasonably failed to discover it exculpatory evidence did not reach the jury.

IV. Mr. Evans received ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase of his capital trial in violation of his rights as guaranteed by the fifth, sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendments. There was abundant mitigation available to present to the jury that defense counsel, without tactic or strategy, failed to present. Trial counsel ignored Mr. Evans' psychological history, the effects of institutionalization on Mr. Evans and the effect of the complete lack of supervision and abandonment by both

parents on Mr. Evans. Because counsel was ineffective, the jury never heard Mr. Evans history of inadequate treatment throughout his hospitalizations, the fact that he was ineffectively medicated, he was raised in an inconsistent and unstructured family environment and suffered from long standing cognitive impairment.

V. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge Juror Schuman, a clearly unqualified juror, for cause; failing to reassert his challenge for cause against Juror Combs, another unqualified juror; and failing to object to the Court limiting his ability to back strike members of the original petit jury. As a result, trial counsel allowed unqualified Jurors Schuman and Combs to remain as triers of fact in Mr. Evans' case.

VI. Due to the sheer number and types of errors involved in his trial, Mr. Evans did not receive the fundamentally fair trial to which he was entitled under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. The lower court failed to conduct a meaningful cumulative analysis of the post-trial evidence in order to evaluate Mr. Evans' claims.

VII. Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 4-3.5(d)(4), which prevents Mr. Evans from investigating any claims of jury misconduct or reliance on external influences that may be inherent in the jury's verdict, is unconstitutional. Here,

where juror misconduct is present, the need to interview jurors is of particular importance. Because ethical rules prohibit Mr. Evans' lawyers from interviewing jurors, Mr. Evans has been denied the effective assistance of counsel in pursuing his postconviction remedies.

VIII. Mr. Evans' death sentence violates Ring v. Arizona, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002) because the jury was not required to render a unanimous recommendation and the aggravating factors were not alleged in the indictment.

ARGUMENT I - MR. EVANS WAS DENIED ACCESS TO PUBLIC RECORDS AND A FULL AND FAIR EVIDENTIARY HEARING DUE TO THE STATE'S WITHHOLDING OF MATERIAL IMPEACHMENT EVIDENCE.

It is a fundamental due process right that the playing field be level when both parties present evidence in court. That is the hallmark of *Holland v. State*, 503 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1987) upon which this Court has repeatedly relied. In this cause, during the evidentiary hearing and without concern for the due process rights of Mr. Evans, the State provided trial counsel with a written document that was purported to contain responses to questions or areas of questioning by Mr. Evans counsel. In essence, the State was permitted to provide suggested answers. Mr. Evans was denied access to that document. (PC-R. 210).

At the evidentiary hearing Mr. Evans called his trial attorneys, Mark Harlee and Diamond Litty. During his testimony, Mark Harllee made reference, during direct examination, to written communication received by him from the state attorney. In the case of *State v. Kearse*, Case No. 910136-CFA, an evidentiary hearing was held on April 18-21, 2005, in the same circuit as Mr. Evans case before Judge Cianca. During the course of that evidentiary hearing it was discovered that a defense witness, Mr. Robert Udell, trial attorney for Mr. Kearse, had received a 24 page letter from Lawrence Mirman sent to him prior to the evidentiary hearing. That letter was sealed and the issue is currently pending before this Court. After that hearing, counsel for Mr. Evans confirmed by phone with defense witness Diamond Litty, penalty phase trial counsel for Mr. Evans, that she had also received a written correspondence, directed to both her and Mark Harllee, from Lawrence Mirman prior to Mr. Evans' evidentiary hearing. However, Ms. Litty, when asked, declined to provide a copy of the letter to counsel.

As a result, Mr. Evans filed a Demand for Additional Public Records to the Office of the State Attorney requesting all letter(s), emails, notes and/or other forms of correspondence from Lawrence Mirman, Assistant State

Attorney, to defense witnesses, Mark Harllee, Assistant Public Defender and Diamond Litty, Public Defender, written and delivered between the date of the filing of the Defendant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief and the date of Mr. Evans' evidentiary hearing. The State objected claiming a work product exemption. The trial court held a hearing, ultimately sustaining the State's objection and requiring that the document remain under seal.

Under Fla. Stat. Sec. 119.07(1)(1), a public record prepared by an agency attorney which reflects a mental impression, conclusion, litigation strategy, or legal theory of the attorney, and which was prepared exclusively for litigation, is exempt from disclosure as attorney work product. The letter received by Mr. Harlee and Ms. Litty is not privileged "work product." The letter was prepared by the State with the knowledge that Mr. Evans would be calling both Mr. Harllee and Ms. Litty to testify at the evidentiary hearing, and to prepare both for their testimony. Mr. Harllee and Ms. Litty are neither public employees of the same agency as the prosecutor, officers of the State Attorney, nor attorneys "consulted" by an agency attorney. Nor are either Mr. Harllee or Ms. Litty a "party" to this litigation. They were two of many witnesses called by the Defendant to testify in a

postconviction proceeding. Given the circuit court's ruling, the State would be free to write lengthy letters to every potential defense witness regarding their anticipated testimony, and the defense would not be entitled to know what the State had said in preparing the defense witnesses to testify.

Even assuming, arguendo, that the letters were privileged, by disclosing the letters to Mr. Evans' witnesses, who were not a party to this litigation, the State waived that privilege. If the public record is released to another public employee or officer of the same agency or any person consulted by the agency attorney, that exemption is not waived. Fla. Stat. Sec. 119.07(1)(2) (emphasis added). However, disclosure to others who are not party to the litigation may waive the work product privilege.

Furthermore, some documents contained within an agency attorney's files are non-exempt public records that are subject to public inspection.¹ While information regarding the opinion of an attorney may be exempt from disclosure as privileged work product, information regarding facts is

¹ See *Pietri v. State*, 885 So. 2d 245 (Fla. 2004); *State v. Kokal*, 562 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 1990); *Shevin v. Byron, Harless, Schaffer, Reid & Associates, Inc.*, 379 So. 2d 633 (Fla. 1980).

not. In addition, where the material contains mixed fact and opinion work product, the "fact" work product. (i.e., factual information which pertains to the case and is prepared or gathered in connection therewith) is subject to disclosure. *State v. Rabin*, 495 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986); *Whealton v. Marshall*, 631 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

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