IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC05-1617

PAUL H. EVANS

## APPELLANT

VS.

### STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The court concluded: "Evans' claim is legally insufficient. The Court finds no deficient performance where the theory of defense was that Evans did not commit the crime and where the description of the crime was fair comment on the evidence – describing two shots to the head as an execution style killing. *Parker v. State*, 873 So.2d 270, 289 (Fla. 2004). Thus, Evans fails to satisfy the first prong of *Strickland*." (PC-R.4 1112).

under Strickland have been shown. Relief must be denied.

(7) bolstering of Waddell and Thomas via Detective Cook ("Cook") and State's argument to believe witnesses (IB 53-58) -Evans has failed to show where the court's findings are improper. Based upon the following, relief should be denied.

The court addressed this matter under Claim I(4) finding:

(a) Evans claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Detective Cook's improper bolstering of Sarah Thomas' and Donna Waddell's credibility when the detective answered questions concerning whether Thomas thought she would be arrested and whether Thomas was promised anything in exchange for her cooperation, when the detective testified he refused to let Thomas make an unmonitored telephone call so that he could "ensure the integrity of the operation," and when the detective stated that he thought the Grand Jury made the final decision on Thomas' arrest. (ROA Vol 38 3604-3611) Evans contends that counsel failed to adequately object to the questioning despite sustained State's line of objections to speculation and hearsay, and a denied motion for mistrial on grounds of improper bolstering.

The Court disagrees and finds no deficient performance or prejudice during this line of questioning. IT was defense strategy to challenge Thomas' credibility by focusing on Thomas' lack of charges beginning in opening statement. (EHT Vol 2 This line of questioning by the State was 138-140). proper examination to show how Thomas and Waddell became State witnesses and to solicit information concerning promises, threats, or coercion that may have been exerted by law enforcement in obtaining Thomas' statement. Further, the detective's explanation of monitoring telephone calls in the context of describing the use of the body bug merely reports how the detective avoided contaminating the investigation by preventing Thomas from alerting her accomplices. (ROA Vol 38 3604-3611) Thus, the Court the detective's testimony resulted finds in no prejudice to Evans because the testimony is

distinguishable from the examples of improper vouching cited by Evans.FN2 The detective was presenting facts concerning the investigation and not testifying as to whether Thomas was telling the truth or whether the jury should believe her.

In addition, in light of defense counsel's sustained objections and denied motion for mistrial, the Court finds Evans' claim merely disagreement with trial strategy, and thus not deficient performance of counsel. Occhicone v. State, 768 So.2d 1037, 1048 (Fla. 2000). Therefore, Evans fails to satisfy both prongs of the Strickland standard.

(b) Evans claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the State's closing argument related to believing Thomas and Waddell. Evans contends that it was improper bolstering for the State to refer to Waddell's plea to second degree murder, and to Thomas' and Waddell's inculpatory testimony. (ROA Vol 42 4201-05). The Court disagrees finding the State's arguments legitimate and logical inferences from the evidence. Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982); Spencer v. State, 133 So.2d 729, 731 (Fla. 1961), cert. denied, 372 U.S. 904 (1963). Thus, Evans fails to demonstrate deficient performance of counsel or prejudice to the proceeding required to satisfy both prongs of the Strickland standard.

FN2 Cases cited by Mr. Evans - Weatherford v. State, 561 So.2d 629, 634 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1990); Capehart v. State, 583 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1991); Tringle v. State, 536 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1988); and Norris v. State, 525 So.2d 998 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1988).

(PC-R.4 1113-15). A review of the evidentiary hearing and trial records support the denial of relief.

Harllee testified he saw nothing improper with the question about lack of promises in exchange for cooperation in this case, but he did object, on the valid ground of "speculation" when Thomas was asked about whether she thought she would be

arrested. The court sustained the objection. (TR.34 3604; PC-T.10 300-05). Given the fact that one objection was sustained, postconviction counsel is merely disagreeing with counsel's choice of objections. This does not amount to ineffective assistance. <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 801 So.2d 59, 65 (Fla. 2001) ("[c]laims expressing mere disagreement with trial counsel's strategy are insufficient"). Further, because counsel was successful, no prejudice has been shown. Clearly, the result of the proceeding would not have been different had a different objection been raised and similarly sustained.

Harllee's failure to object to the questions as to whether Cook promised Thomas she would not be arrested does not show ineffectiveness nor improper bolstering. Cook's contact with Thomas was relevant given the defense opening statement and strategy in the first trial of challenging Thomas' credibility. Cook reported his contact and addressed whether he coerced or promised Thomas anything. Such in was response to the suggestions made by Harllee when he asked the jury to focus on Thomas' lack of charges (PC-T.11 329-30). It is common practice for counsel to question law enforcement officers regarding any promises, threats, or coercion they may have exerted in obtaining a statement from a witness or suspect. Given this, there is no showing of a valid objection which was not raised. Counsel may not be deemed deficient.

Any failure to object to questions about Cook's refusal to allow Thomas to make unmonitored calls does not show deficiency, or improper bolstering. Cook merely reported how he avoided undermining the investigation by denying Thomas the opportunity to alert her accomplices. When read in context, the police were looking for unadulterated responses from the accomplices,<sup>22</sup> not necessarily that what was said was the truth. Also, Cook's comment: "we wanted the truth," was neither improper bolstering nor an invasion of the jury's province. More important, even had that single phrase raised an objection, the result of the proceeding would not have been different as it was clear the police were looking for answers untainted with the knowledge a criminal investigation had been opened. Moreover, Waddell and Thomas testified about their contact with the police and the overwhelming evidence against Evans.<sup>23</sup> The Strickland standard

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Cook testified Thomas was not permitted to leave the police department or make unmonitored telephone calls so that the integrity of the operation was preserved which Cook defined as precluding the accomplices talking and creating "stories." The police wanted unadulterated responses from Waddell. This was accomplished by not letting Thomas alert her and to keep the accomplices in sight. (TR.34 3607-08).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Evans was the person who agreed to do the contract killing of Alan Pfeiffer, developed the plan how such should be accomplished to make it look like a robbery, while giving the participants an alibi. Further, Waddell and Thomas identified Evans as the shooter, where he obtained the gun, and about his destruction of the clothing he wore that night and the electronic equipment he received as payment. (TR.31 3136-37, 3219, 3258-59; TR.32 3317-21, 3388, 3404, 3414-17, 3445-48, 3474-83; TR.33 3486-3502, 3549-57, 3571; TR.34 3616-17, 3656-61,

requiring deficiency and prejudice has not been met.

Also, Cook's response regarding what transpired between Thomas and Waddell during their taped conversation was sustained as eliciting hearsay. The State, as Harllee agreed, was anticipating properly a previously offered defense argument. Such was not bolstering, but an appropriate area of examination (TR.34 3610-11). Moreover, both Waddell and Thomas testified, thus, the jury was not exposed to anything improper. Not objecting on the grounds of improper bolstering when such would not have been meritorious does not establish deficiency. The failure to raise a non-meritorious issue is not ineffectiveness. King v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 355, 357-58 (Fla. 1990)

Similarly, there was no deficiency in Harllee's examination of Cook in which Cook reported Thomas was not charged upon the Grand Jury's decision. The testimony was in anticipation and response to the defense claim Thomas was not credible because she had not been charged. In Harllee's estimation it was good rebuttal (PC-T.11 329-31),<sup>24</sup> thus clearly, he considered the

<sup>3674-81, 3692-3703;</sup> TR.35 3797-3810, 3815-19; TR.36 3826-55, 3862-64; TR.37 4019-22, 4047).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Evans' cases for improper vouching, <u>Weatherford v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 629 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); <u>Caphart v. State</u>, 583 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1991); <u>Tingle v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1988); <u>Norris</u> <u>v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 998 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), are distinguishable as Cook was not speaking directly to whether the witnesses were telling the truth or whether the jury should believe them. The State was presenting facts surrounding the investigation and how it came to be that these accomplices became State witnesses.

argument and decided not to pursue an objection. "Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective merely because current counsel disagrees with trial counsel's strategic decisions. Moreover, strategic decisions do not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel if alternative courses have been considered and rejected and counsel's decision was reasonable under the norms of professional conduct." <u>Occhicone</u>, 768 So.2d at 1048. No ineffectiveness under Strickland was proven.

With respect to Evans claim Harllee should have objected to the State's closing,<sup>25</sup> the court correctly recognized that wide latitude is given to counsel to argue his case. <u>See Breedlove v.</u> <u>State</u>, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982) (recognizing "[w]ide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. [c.o.] Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate

(TR.38 4204-05).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> The State argued:

So what are the theories of the Defense? Well, let's take them one by one. One of Connie's biker friends did it? Well, the only problem with that is if somebody else did it other than these four individuals, why is (sic) Donna Waddell and Sarah Thomas admitting to their involvement in a homicide? They believe -- Donna Waddell believes well enough to plea to second degree murder that she helped Paul Evans.

And if that's the case, then why is the Defendant providing an alibi for the rest of them? Why is he saying we were all together when we know that's not the case? Whey is Sarah and Donna implicating themselves in a first degree murder if somebody else, completely unrelated to this, committed the crime? I guess Mr. Harllee is trying to suggest it could have been drug dealers.

arguments"). In arguing to a jury "[1]ogical inferences from the evidence are permissible. Public prosecutors are allowed to advance to the jury all legitimate arguments within the limits their forensic talents in order to effectuate their of enforcement of the criminal laws." Spencer v. State, 133 So.2d 729, (Fla. 1961). Control of prosecutorial argument lies within the court's sound discretion, and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. See Esty v. State, 642 So.2d 1074, 1079 (Fla. 1994). Clearly, as the court found below, the State's comments were based upon record facts and were "[1]ogical inferences from the evidence." No objection was warranted, but even had the comments been excluded, the result of the trial would have been the same. There was corroboration of the testimony from Waddell and Thomas and the jury knew Waddell had pled to second-degree murder. Further, Evans' police statement and self-serving exculpatory comment he had others kill Pfeiffer supported the events described by Waddell and Thomas.

(8) State's closing regarding unanimity on Evans' status as shooter or principal (IB 58-61) - As was done on direct appeal, Evans complains the State's closing, wherein it argued the applicability of the principal and actual shooter theories as well as being divided as to premeditation or felony murder theories of guilt. Evans asserts this Court made the finding on direct appeal that "where there exists the possibility that the

'jury may be divided as to the elements of the crime' both the State and Federal constitutions are violated. (IB 59-60). A reading of this Court's opinion reveals, Evans misconstrued the Court's comment. The rejection of the appellate issue on procedural grounds establishes that prejudice cannot be shown here. The court's ruling<sup>26</sup> comports with Strickland.

In Evans, 808 So.2d at 106, this Court stated:

## <sup>26</sup> The trial court concluded:

Evans claims that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the State's closing argument that half the jury could determine that Mr. Evans was the shooter and the other half could believe that he was a principal. (ROA Vol 42 4173-74) This was based on the testimony of Thomas and Waddell, that Evans either killed the victim or had gotten others to kill the victim.

Before trial, defense counsel moved to have the State elect under which theory it would proceed, shooter or principal, and to preclude the State from arguing both theories to the jury. The trial court properly denied the motion as to not obligating the State to disclose a single theory of prosecution. Defense counsel did not object to the dual theory argument during closing and did not request a jury instruction or special verdict form, thus, the claim was not preserved. However, in rebuttal closing argument, defense counsel did argue to the jury that the State could not have it both ways. (EHT Vol 1 139-141)

The Court finds Evans' claim legally insufficient. In light of the denial of counsel's pre-trial motion challenging the dual theories of prosecution, and absent proof that either theory was legally inadequate or that the State failed to make a prima facie showing under either theory, Evans fails to demonstrate how counsel's alleged deficiencies prejudiced the outcome of the proceeding. *Mackerly v. State*, 777 So.2d 969 (Fla. 2001); *Stevenson v. State*, 787 So.2d 165 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001). Thus, the Defendant fails to satisfy the second prong of *Strickland*.

(PC-R.4 1115-16)(footnote omitted).

On appeal, Evans raises for the first time that the State's use, in a capital case, of two mutually exclusive factual theories so that the jury may be divided as to the elements of the crime violates both the state and federal constitutions based on the United States Supreme Court's decisions in Schad v. Arizona ... and Richardson v. United States .... We conclude that this claim was not preserved.

(emphasis supplied). The highlighted portion merely identified Evans' appellate issue. This Court did not conclude, or suggest the State's trial argument, even potentially, violated the state or federal constitutions. Evans' insinuation otherwise is not well taken. He may not use this Court's restatement of his claim as a basis to call into question the court's rejection of the allegation of ineffectiveness raised on collateral review.

Further, where a challenge to the State's argument is not preserved for appeal, fundamental error must be found for the defense to prevail on appeal. To constitute fundamental error, the improper comments made in closing arguments must be so prejudicial as to taint the jury's verdict. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 970, 985 n. 10 (Fla. 1999). This Court's rejection of the direct appeal claim on procedural grounds shows that such argument did not constitute fundamental error, and as such, Evans is unable to show prejudice from counsel's failure to object to the argument on these grounds. <u>White</u>, 559 So.2d at 1099-1100 (rejecting ineffectiveness claim based upon earlier finding by court appeal that unpreserved errors would not

constitute fundamental error); <u>Teffeteller v. Dugger</u>, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1019 (Fla. 1988); <u>Maxwell</u>, 490 So.2d at 932 ("court considering a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel need not make a specific ruling on the performance component of the test when it is clear that the prejudice component is not satisfied").

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